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          1  COMMITTEE ON HIGHER EDUCATION

          2                 CHAIRPERSON BARRON:  Good morning. I

          3  want to welcome everyone to the Committee on Higher

          4  Education. Our hearing this morning will cover a

          5  sorely needed area in CUNY and in the City, and even

          6  in the State, and that is nursing, math and science.

          7                 The Governor, Governor Pataki, in his

          8  budget proposal had proposed to give free tuition to

          9  students who major in -- and students in SUNY and

         10  CUNY who major in math and science, as long as they

         11  commit to work in New York City Schools.  But we

         12  want to add nursing to that. There is a real nursing

         13  shortage, and I think it would be good if we could

         14  appeal to the Governor, and appeal to people around

         15  the State, to add on to that, nursing.  Nursing is a

         16  profession that is in sorely need of students and

         17  workers.  So that's what this hearing wants to -- we

         18  want to get into that, talk about that.

         19                 First of all, I want to welcome one

         20  of the newest members to our Committee, and you

         21  notice he sat right next to me.  He said that he

         22  will be a thorn in my left side for the entire

         23  hearing, but a young man, who I have grown to highly

         24  respect and have a very, very good relationship

         25  with, and that is Council Member Tony Avella.  So
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          2  just welcome him to our Committee please.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER AVELLA:  Thank you.

          4  Thank you.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON BARRON:  We do strange

          6  things here, Tony. We clap.  We let the people --

          7  like sometimes they even can yell from the floor and

          8  say sit that witness down.  I say okay. So this is a

          9  people's run hearing.

         10                 Our new Policy Analyst is Josh

         11  Nachowitz.  Did I say your name right?

         12                 MR. NACHOWITZ: Yes, that's it.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON BARRON:  Josh Nachowitz.

         14  Give him a big hand clap, too. He is our new Policy

         15  Analyst.  This guy you know you don't have to clap

         16  for, at all.  Nor do you have to clap for Council

         17  Member -- what's your name again -- Miguel Martinez

         18  from Manhattan, and forget about Larry Seabrooks

         19  (sic) from the Bronx.  You know there is regular

         20  tired, same old -- don't you dare.  I will have you

         21  removed with the Sergeant-at-Arms.  Don't you think

         22  about it.  But give them both big hand claps. They

         23  are very champions of CUNY, and they have been very,

         24  very consistent over the years and working --

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEABROOK: Products of
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          2  CUNY.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON BARRON: Products of CUNY.

          4

          5                 And my staff person, my Legislative

          6  Director, Ms. Joyce Simmons, does great work for us.

          7  Give her a big hand clap.

          8                 So I am going to read my opening

          9  statement for the record. I want to read my opening

         10  statement for the record and then we will proceed

         11  right into the hearings.

         12                 But Janise is here, too.  Janise is a

         13  former staff member to Council Member Bill Perkins,

         14  and she has done great work for CUNY, so it is good

         15  to see her.  No, don't be cheap, sir.  I want a

         16  little more intensity and volume to your hand clap.

         17  We want to be heard. So when we ask for hand claps,

         18  this is a very, very important part of this hearing,

         19  and I would like to see some, some -- you know get

         20  into it, some like intensity.  There is a certain

         21  kind of -- what do you call it -- repetitions per

         22  second that we are trying to achieve.

         23                 Good afternoon.  My name is

         24  Councilman Charles Barron, Chair of the Council's

         25  Higher Education Committee. Today's hearing will
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          2  focus on the City University of New York's role in

          3  addressing the shortage of graduates in the math,

          4  science, allied health and nursing professions in

          5  New York City.

          6                 The lack of highly-trained people in

          7  these fields is growing every day, and their absence

          8  is having a significant impact on our children's

          9  education, on the research and development,

         10  capabilities of the City University, and other

         11  colleges, and on the availability of qualified

         12  medical professionals to work in our health care

         13  system.

         14                 This Committee has held hearings in

         15  the past that focused on the thousands of CUNY

         16  students who are struggling, some unsuccessfully, to

         17  keep up with the increasing cost of going to

         18  college. This Committee has consistently argued that

         19  instead of continuing to short change the City

         20  University, we need to increase CUNY's funding, so

         21  that students can fulfill their dreams for a college

         22  education, and our work force can be better equipped

         23  to serve our City needs.

         24                 This past January, Governor George

         25  Pataki announced a plan that calls for providing
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          2  free tuition, at both the State and City University

          3  systems, to students who pursue math and science

          4  degrees, and commit to teaching math and science in

          5  New York public schools after graduation.

          6                 Unfortunately, the Governor's

          7  proposal does not go far enough.  I have stated many

          8  times my desire to see free tuition restored at CUNY

          9  so that anyone, regardless of race, economic

         10  background, gender or disability, could obtain a

         11  college education. Now is the perfect time for such

         12  as commitment.

         13                 Because there are critical shortages,

         14  not only in math and science teaching positions, but

         15  also in the allied health and nursing professions;

         16  for example, in the year of 2000, New York State

         17  already had an 11 percent shortage in nurses, which

         18  is estimated to increase nearly to 27 percent by the

         19  Year 2020. If CUNY can offer free tuition to the

         20  students in its honor colleges, and the Governor can

         21  offer free tuition to those who want to teach math

         22  and science, then isn't it time to really invest in

         23  our college students, our City and our future?

         24                 Today's hearing will address these

         25  issues, and I would like to invite our first panel
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          2  of witnesses to testify.

          3                 COUNSEL TO COMMITTEE:  Good

          4  afternoon. Will each of you please raise your right

          5  hand.

          6                 Do you swear or affirm that the

          7  testimony you are about to offer is truthful?

          8                 DR. BOTMAN:I do.

          9                 MS. KEIZS: I do.

         10                 DR. FERNANDEZ: I do.

         11                 MR. ETTRICKS:  Thank you.  Please

         12  begin by stating your name and your affiliation for

         13  the record.

         14                 DR. BOTMAN: Selma Botman, Executive

         15  Vice Chancellor for Academic Affairs for the City

         16  University of New York.

         17                 MR. ETTRICKS:  Please speak into the

         18  microphone.

         19                 DR. BOTMAN:  Is it on now? Yes.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON BARRON:  You see we have

         21  a very awkward situation here, when it's on its off

         22  and when its off its on.

         23                 DR. BOTMAN: I am learning, Chairman.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON BARRON: That's about how

         25  we do the budget around here, very similar.
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          2                 DR. BOTMAN:  Selma Botman, Executive

          3  Vice Chancellor for Academic Affairs, City

          4  University of New York.

          5                 MS. KEIZS:  I'm Marcia Keizs.  I am

          6  the President of York College, and prior to this, I

          7  have just celebrated my first year by the way, prior

          8  to this, I was the Vice President for Academic

          9  Affairs at Bronx Community College.  So, I know

         10  Councilman Seabrook quite well.

         11                 DR. FERNANDEZ:  Good afternoon. I am

         12  Ricardo Fernandez, President of Lehman College in

         13  the Bronx.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON BARRON:  John, did you

         15  stack this with the Bronx presentation here.  This

         16  is not good for my reputation. Okay.

         17                 DR. BOTMAN:  Thank you. Thank you,

         18  Chairman Barron, and the other members of the Higher

         19  Education Committee, for the opportunity to testify

         20  today, and for your extraordinary support of the

         21  City University of New York. I am very pleased to

         22  have my colleagues, President Keizs and President

         23  Fernandez with me today. I would like to express our

         24  gratitude for your support to the University, and in

         25  particular, Chairman Barron, for your support of
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          2  scholarships to our extremely deserving students.

          3                 We are pleased to provide you with

          4  information regarding CUNY's commitment to meeting

          5  New York City's need for individuals skilled in the

          6  areas of mathematics, science, nursing and allied

          7  health fields.

          8                 The City University of New York

          9  recognizes its obligation to be responsive to the

         10  needs of the community, and it appreciates the

         11  urgency to educate and train highly-skilled

         12  individuals in the areas of mathematics, science,

         13  nursing and allied health fields in order for New

         14  York City to continue to compete an increasingly

         15  global economy.

         16                 Although this competitive economy

         17  demands highly skilled and adaptable workers, the

         18  data show that the United States has been failing to

         19  meet that need.  In a recent report published by

         20  Science and Engineer Indicators, we are warned that

         21  since 1990, United States Bachelor's Degrees in

         22  engineering have dropped by eight percent, and

         23  degrees in mathematics have dropped 20 percent. A

         24  2003 study by the Program for International Student

         25  Assessment evaluating math literacy, and other
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          2  skills of students at age 15, showed that the United

          3  States ranked 24th of 29 OECD countries, the

          4  Organization for Economic Cooperation and

          5  Development Countries in mathematics literacy.  Only

          6  Poland, Greece, Italy, Turkey and Mexico ranked

          7  lower than the United States.

          8                 An expert panel convened by the

          9  National Academies noted that 12th graders in the

         10  United States performed below the international

         11  average for 21 countries on general knowledge in

         12  mathematics and science.

         13                 For all of these reasons, it is not a

         14  surprise that in 2000 the proportion of college-age

         15  population earning degrees in science and

         16  engineering fields, was substantially larger in more

         17  than 16 countries, in Asia and Europe, than in the

         18  United States.

         19                 Closer to home, a report at the end

         20  of 2005, showed that among New York City high school

         21  students, only seven percent passed the Regents

         22  exam, and just 18 percent passed the chemistry

         23  Regents exams.

         24                 Data such as these, have resulted in

         25  the New York State Business Council calling for an
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          2  increase in students receiving post-secondary

          3  education in science, mathematics and engineering,

          4  as well as for an increase in the education of new,

          5  highly-qualified teachers of math and science.

          6                 In the health professions also there

          7  is significant need for more highly-trained

          8  professionals.  According to the Bureau of Labor

          9  Statistics, current employers are having difficulty

         10  hiring sufficient nurses and other health care

         11  professionals.

         12                 The New York State Department of

         13  Labor lists registered nurses as the profession with

         14  the most openings in the New York City region, by

         15  the Year 2014, the need for such professionals will

         16  increase even more.  One of the reasons for this

         17  increase, is the aging of the American population

         18  with a consequent increase in the need for health

         19  care.

         20                 The New York State Department of

         21  Labor predicts significant increases each year in

         22  the total number of new jobs added to each health

         23  professions area.  The need is particularly acute in

         24  nursing, which you alluded to, Chairman Barron, in

         25  your opening remarks. This area is expected to add

                                                            13

          1  COMMITTEE ON HIGHER EDUCATION

          2  3,000 jobs per year for the next six years.  This is

          3  especially critical, since shortages of nurses are

          4  factors in about one-fourth of patient injuries or

          5  deaths in hospitals, according to the Joint

          6  Commission on Accreditation of Health Care

          7  Organizations' 2002 report.  Facts such as these,

          8  have made the shortage of nurses a nationwide

          9  crisis.

         10                 CUNY recognizes the need for more

         11  highly-trained mathematicians, scientists,

         12  registered nurses and allied health professionals,

         13  and therefore, has taken a number of affirmative

         14  steps to address these needs.

         15                 With regard to improving student

         16  learning, engaging students in math and science,

         17  providing more effective teachers in the New York

         18  City public schools, and trying to meet the need for

         19  professionals in the health care professions, we are

         20  working in a number of areas simultaneously.

         21                 Consistent with the priorities of the

         22  2004-2008 CUNY Master Plan, we are targeting

         23  selected areas for hiring clusters of new faculty,

         24  and among those clusters are the areas of

         25  bioscience, including neuroscience and photonics,
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          2  including biomedical optical imaging, laser

          3  development and nanotechnology.

          4                 CUNY is creating a new Teacher

          5  Academy that will prepare a new generation of

          6  outstanding middle- and high-school mathematics and

          7  science teachers, by offering students a rigorous

          8  education and deep experience in the New York City

          9  public schools.

         10                 CUNY has announced a Decade of

         11  Science, an Initiative of the CUNY Chancellor

         12  Matthew Goldstein, who calls for a 10-year period of

         13  expansion in the sciences at the University. This

         14  includes the construction and/or renovation of

         15  excellent new core and specialized science

         16  laboratories, which are essential for training our

         17  future scientists.

         18                 We are working with K-12 teachers to

         19  ignite student interest in science. Through an

         20  initiative called "Project Globe," funded by the

         21  National Science Foundation and the National

         22  Aeronautics and Science Administration, NASA, among

         23  others, we help teachers create activities that

         24  engage students in active science, in particular, in

         25  a project that gathers actual data on climate and
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          2  environmental change.

          3                 CUNY is creating a new Science Now

          4  Program for high school students, developed in close

          5  collaboration with the New York City Department of

          6  Education.  Science Now will create awareness and

          7  interest in science disciplines.  It will work with

          8  students struggling in science courses in high

          9  school, and it will give promising students

         10  opportunities to take University classes and

         11  participate in hands-on experiments in our many

         12  active laboratories.

         13                 The University seeks to engage more

         14  K-12 and undergraduate students in engineering and

         15  science research.  Hands-on science projects

         16  motivate and enthuse students.  Engineering and

         17  science come to life when students learn by doing.

         18  Advanced high school students and undergraduates

         19  will continue to be brought into faculty

         20  laboratories to work alongside professors so that

         21  they experience the thrill of discovery.

         22                 We have recently begun a doctoral

         23  program in audiology that will prepare students to

         24  be highly qualified clinicians, who can provide

         25  state-of-the-art audiology services to individuals
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          2  of all ages with hearing loss.

          3                 We have also recently begun a

          4  doctoral physical therapy program to ensure that our

          5  physical therapists are doctorally credentialed as

          6  the field now requires. We have scheduled a Doctor

          7  of Nursing Science Program to begin in the Fall of

          8  2006, pending approval by the New York State

          9  Education Department.  Upon completion of this

         10  program, nurses will be qualified to serve as

         11  faculty in bachelor's and master's nursing programs.

         12  Such faculty are essential if we are to train the

         13  many new registered nurses who are needed.

         14                 We want to continue to incentivize

         15  doctoral students to study math, science,

         16  engineering, and the health professions. In order to

         17  ensure New York's dominance in science and

         18  innovation and keep our society healthy, we must

         19  train more students to the level of a doctorate in

         20  these areas.  And we need to ensure that able

         21  students are not excluded from the pipeline,

         22  especially women and students of color.

         23                 CUNY's actions to promote the

         24  education and graduation of students in mathematics,

         25  science, nursing and allied health are already
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          2  having an effect.  This year, there were at least 25

          3  percent more students in bachelor's and master's

          4  degree programs than in the past four years in the

          5  areas of nursing, allied health, biological and

          6  biomedical sciences, physical sciences, engineering,

          7  mathematics and statistics. Together, just these

          8  programs alone enroll about 24,000 students each

          9  semester at City University.

         10                 An important commitment for CUNY is

         11  the education of students of color in these fields,

         12  and I am pleased to say that fully 49 percent, just

         13  close to half of our students, in baccalaureate

         14  programs in mathematics, science and engineering are

         15  black, Hispanic or American Indian.  In the area of

         16  health sciences it is 60 percent. But we need to

         17  help ensure the success of our programs, in order to

         18  ensure that more students enter these programs,

         19  succeed in them, graduate and are hired for

         20  appropriate positions. We want to train more

         21  teachers to work with the next generation of

         22  students. We want to train more nurses and

         23  professionals in the area of allied health.

         24                 If we could incentivize a greater

         25  number of students to study these fields, we could
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          2  offer the assistance that our deserving students

          3  need. One way to do this, would be to provide

          4  financial incentives for high school and college

          5  students working in professors laboratories, and for

          6  researchers who engage such students. Another way,

          7  would be to offer students scholarships in targeted

          8  areas.

          9                 There is a colossal need now, a need

         10  which will increase in the upcoming decade, for more

         11  professionals in the areas of mathematics, science,

         12  nursing and allied health. CUNY is aggressively

         13  pursing several different ways of helping to meet

         14  this need. With your support, Chairman Barron, we

         15  will continue to find ways to ensure future

         16  excellent human capital, and thus a bright future

         17  for New York City. Thank you.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON BARRON: Thank you very

         19  much for your testimony. Are others going to testify

         20  or do you want to ask questions?

         21                 DR. BOTMAN:  Yes. Yes.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON BARRON:  Okay, sure.

         23                 MS. KEIZS:  Again, good afternoon. I

         24  am Marcia Keizs, President of York College. I am

         25  pleased to share with you what I know to be a fine
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          2  record of service among Community Colleges of CUNY

          3  in preparing students to meet the allied health

          4  needs of the City, and in deed, the region.  I will

          5  also testify about what we're doing at York in the

          6  baccalaureates granting institution in this area.

          7                 I have spent almost 30 years as a

          8  teacher and administrator in the CUNY system,

          9  starting at Queensborough Community College.  With

         10  many stops along the way, and now I serving as

         11  President of York. From 1997 to 2005, I was the Vice

         12  President of Academic Affairs at Bronx Community

         13  College, and there I was directly responsible for

         14  sustaining the quality, growing the capacity and

         15  assuring access, to programs designed to prepare

         16  students for careers in Nuclear Medical Technology,

         17  in Medical Laboratory Technology, the Licensed

         18  Practical Nurse, the Registered Nurse, and also in

         19  Radiological Technology.  All areas of high need.

         20                 The role of the community college in

         21  preparing well qualified and credential allied

         22  health professionals, who live and work, and I think

         23  that this is really important, they stay in New

         24  York.  There is tenacity to the work we do and the

         25  students stay. It cannot be overstated.
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          2                 In fact, at one time, this is the

          3  story at Bronx, in the early days of the 70's Bronx

          4  Community College boasted a student population in

          5  nursing only of 1,100, and a faculty, a full-time

          6  faculty in nursing only, these are facts, of 103.

          7                 Unfortunately, the ravages of the New

          8  York City's fiscal crisis, and believe me, I was not

          9  at Bronx at the time, but I was a member of the

         10  Queensborough Community College faculty, and I

         11  suffered the brunt of that fiscal crisis in having

         12  been retrenched.

         13                 But in 1975, this program was

         14  eviscerated, but thankfully not erased, and today at

         15  Bronx Community College, the nursing program enjoys

         16  a growing enrollment in the pre-clinical of 1,403

         17  students, and in the actual clinical phase, that is

         18  when they are really preparing to be nurses, 201

         19  students.  And I did check these facts with my

         20  colleague, President Williams, before testifying to

         21  them, In recent years, Bronx graduates roughly 65

         22  students annually, and the Radiologic Technology

         23  Program is also strongly enrolled, graduating some

         24  30 or so students on an annual basis.

         25                 The Associate Degree Programs I have
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          2  described at Bronx, are replicated in the community

          3  colleges in Queens, in Manhattan, in Staten Island,

          4  and of course, in Brooklyn. There are programs of

          5  this sort in each of the boroughs.  And indeed, many

          6  of those programs over the last five years have

          7  responded to the need by opening up into evening and

          8  weekend programs. Again, I know that three years ago

          9  responding to the need, especially expressed by

         10  1199, the union, BCC opened its doors to an evening

         11  weekend program which I am told is thriving with

         12  students.

         13                 What is critically important, as

         14  well, is that access is assured, even for those

         15  students who may start their college life by

         16  catching up on some of the academic skills they did

         17  not master in the high school. And when they

         18  successfully complete the Associate Degree, it is

         19  important to assure continuation.  Sometimes they do

         20  so with tuition reimbursement from their employers

         21  or their unions, so that they can go on to complete

         22  the baccalaureate at a college like York or any

         23  other CUNY institution at the baccalaureate level.

         24                 And speaking of the baccalaureate,

         25  let me now turn to the situation at York.  As you
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          2  know, we were established about 40 years ago to

          3  serve the Jamaica and the greater Queens community's

          4  social, intellectual and professional needs, by

          5  developing both undergraduate, and now graduate

          6  programs, which embrace a focus on the liberal arts

          7  and sciences, as well as preparation for the

          8  professions.

          9                 York College's long-established

         10  commitment to the allied health professions mirrors

         11  the University's commitment, as you have heard

         12  described by Vice Chancellor Botman.  At York, our

         13  allied health professional offerings include the

         14  following: Occupational Therapy, Medical Lab

         15  Technology, Physician's Assistant and Nursing. I

         16  will provide just a thumbnail sketch of two of our

         17  programs.

         18            In the Occupational Therapy, again you

         19  have heard the statistics provided by Vice

         20  Chancellor Botman, the Bureau of Labor Statistics

         21  Handbook for Occupational Outlook for Occupational

         22  Therapists, projects that nationally the employment

         23  of OTs will increase at a rate much faster than the

         24  average expected for related fields through the Year

         25  2014, and the rate exceeds 27 percent.
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          2                 Responding to this labor demand, CUNY

          3  offers one Associate Degree Program training OT

          4  Assistants at LaGuardia Community College, and the

          5  combined Bachelor/Master's Degree Program at York

          6  College.  And indeed, we have been doing this work

          7  since 1975, producing highly-skilled OT

          8  professionals who have been taking their places in

          9  the hospitals and in the clinics in New York.

         10                 I can tell you on a personal note,

         11  that our York OTs are fiercely loyal to their alma

         12  mater, it is one of the strong alumni components of

         13  York, because we prepared them so well and they feel

         14  very, very good about the training they have had.

         15                 I am pleased to report that in the

         16  Year 2004, we successfully registered our

         17  Bachelor/Master's Degree Program, our first Master's

         18  Program, but not our last, thus responding to

         19  changes in National Certification Standards for the

         20  profession.

         21                 Since the initial program

         22  registration, we have graduated almost 600

         23  Occupational Therapists. We currently enroll 271

         24  students. The gender representation, little bit more

         25  heavily women than men, 74 percent women, 26 percent
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          2  men, and the population reflects the general

          3  population currently attracted to our college with

          4  84 percent coming from ethnic minorities.

          5                 The Physician Assistant Program is a

          6  new program for York College, established in 2004.

          7  True to its mission, the City University of New York

          8  offers two Bachelor of Science Degrees for

          9  Physician's Assistants. One each in Queens, at York,

         10  and one in Manhattan at City College. Each PA

         11  program is structured differently with respect to

         12  the affiliation contracts with hospitals and

         13  hospital networks.

         14                 At York, and this is the newer of the

         15  two programs, our program is inaugurated in Fall of

         16  2004.  A lot of interest in this program:  1,500

         17  students inquired, 280 actually applied, 80 were

         18  interviewed, and in the first class we accepted 21,

         19  in the second class we accepted 25.  So we have 46

         20  students currently enrolled, 48 percent are men, 52

         21  percent women, and again with about a 90 percent

         22  reflection in terms of the ethnic minorities.

         23                 An interesting feature of the PA

         24  program is that because of the rigors of the

         25  clinical rotations required, it operates year round.
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          2  Students must come 12 months a year. There is no

          3  summer break.

          4                 I just want to veer from my testimony

          5  for one moment, just to talk a little bit about

          6  nursing and what we are doing at York.

          7                 At York, our nursing program

          8  currently is what is considered an upper division

          9  nursing program.  In other words, in order to enter

         10  into our program, you must have already completed an

         11  Associate Degree, let's say at Bronx, or at say

         12  Queensborough; you must have taken your National

         13  Licensing Exam, and passed it, and so, in effect,

         14  you are a practicing nurse, your are a Registered

         15  Nurse, and then you come to York and complete an

         16  additional 60 credits to get the higher credential,

         17  that's the baccalaureate.

         18                 What we are proposing at York,

         19  hopefully by Spring 2007, is to begin a generic

         20  nursing program which starts at the first freshman

         21  level, so that students coming straight out of high

         22  school could come in and complete the four years.

         23                 At the present time, we do not have

         24  that ability, and we will start that program, Chair

         25  Barron, as soon as we have the ink dry on our
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          2  certification, which is about to come from our

          3  national accreditors. We have heard that we have

          4  passed that test, and we are just waiting for that

          5  document to come to our hands, and then we will move

          6  on. So we will be in the business of expanding the

          7  University's ability to provide more nursing

          8  graduates in the near future.

          9                 On the teacher education front, time

         10  will not allow me to really explicate this issue,

         11  and, in fact, Vice Chancellor Botman will let you

         12  know that this is an issue very, very close to my

         13  heart.  Both President Fernandez and Vice Chancellor

         14  Botman can testify from their various positions,

         15  because again in Bronx, Bronx Community College was

         16  a major feeder school to Lehman, and so President

         17  Fernandez and I often worked on these projects.

         18                 I have been a tenacious academic

         19  leader in this area, having led BCC to establish a

         20  fully articulated Earth Science Secondary

         21  curriculum, and at York, currently working with our

         22  college faculty and administrators to ensure NCATE

         23  accreditation. And that accreditation will take

         24  place March 11th through 15th, and at that time, it

         25  is our hope, we are hopefully optimistic about
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          2  passing that test, which will accredit all of York's

          3  teacher education programs so that in the near

          4  future we can participate in deepening and

          5  broadening our support and/or efforts in math and

          6  science, and possibly also, joining in CUNY's

          7  Teachers Academy opportunities.

          8                 We believe we are poised to do so,

          9  given our excellent commitment to science

         10  traditionally, our highly credentialed faculty, our

         11  researches, our success in attracting research

         12  dollars, and of course, with the good fortune of

         13  having the FDA, the Federal Drug Administration lab

         14  at our doorstep, which came to us some ten or so

         15  years ago, to provide internships and other

         16  partnering opportunities to benefit York students.

         17                 I am fully aware, in closing, that as

         18  York and CUNY at large endeavor to assure access to

         19  continue to achieve quality programs and enjoy

         20  national accreditation, as well as to build capacity

         21  in these critical work force areas, we will need

         22  you, our friends in the City Council, to understand

         23  what we do well and where the challenges are, so

         24  that you can make the right decisions regarding how

         25  you might support our efforts.
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          2                 We continue, of course, to count on

          3  your support, and I thank you for providing me an

          4  opportunity to let you know how the community

          5  colleges, as well as York College, has contributed

          6  over the years to preparing new waves of

          7  professionals.

          8                 After President Fernandez's

          9  testimony, I am sure you may have some questions,

         10  I'd be more than happy to answer --

         11                 CHAIRPERSON BARRON:  Excuse me, but

         12  that is my rule to say that.

         13                 MS. KEIZS:  I am terribly sorry.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON BARRON: I just don't want

         15  you to step out of bounds here. To have to say that.

         16                 MS. KEIZS:  Okay.  Well, then I stand

         17  corrected.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON BARRON: I have completed

         19  my presentation and thank you for listening, and I

         20  will take it from there.

         21                 Okay, thank you very much for your

         22  testimony.  I appreciate it.

         23                 DR. FERNANDEZ:  Good afternoon,

         24  Chairman Barron, and distinguished members of the

         25  Committee. I am Ricardo Fernandez, President of
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          2  Lehman. I want to, first of all, commend the

          3  Committee for holding a public hearing on an issue

          4  having to do with a topic that is not only

          5  important, but very timely, not only for the City,

          6  but for the Nation, and that is the State of Science

          7  Technology and Engineering and Mathematics

          8  Education, or STEM, as the acronym is universally

          9  used.

         10                 In our corner of the City, we have

         11  been concerned about science and mathematics for

         12  some time.  And this afternoon I want to highlight

         13  for you some of the initiatives that Lehman College

         14  has undertaken, to improve science and math

         15  education in our schools.

         16                 In teacher preparation, for years

         17  Lehman has had students participating in the Teacher

         18  Opportunity Program, TOPS, for math and science.

         19  Each fall, we accept 12 to 15 students in math and

         20  science.  Currently we have 15 in math, and 13

         21  spread out in Biology, Chemistry and Physics.

         22                 The College is also part, with Hunter

         23  and Bronx Community, of a new five-year grant from

         24  the National Science Foundation to raise achievement

         25  levels of high school students in secondary math and
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          2  science programs.  Our expectation is that the

          3  number of students going into these fields in

          4  college will increase as a result of their

          5  participation in this program.

          6                 We are also part of the Teacher

          7  Academy and we are currently aggressively recruiting

          8  students to be part of this exciting program.

          9                 In the past five years, our college

         10  faculty has increased significantly its research and

         11  other grant activity.

         12                 Last year, Lehman College received

         13  over $17 million in grants, ranking in among the top

         14  three or four CUNY colleges in this area. Even

         15  though we are smaller in enrollment, and in the

         16  number of full-time faculty.

         17                 For more than a decade and a half,

         18  our students have taken part in federally funded

         19  programs to provide them with stipends and tuition

         20  support, enabling them to conduct research in

         21  partnership with science faculty.

         22                 Lehman participates in CUNY's grant

         23  from NSF titled, The Alliance for Minority

         24  Participation.  We have been in this program for

         25  many years. We currently have 12 student projects in
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          2  place.

          3                 Yearly 20 honor students receive

          4  laptops and research stipends as part of the Ronald

          5  McNair Post Baccalaureate Achievement Program, which

          6  we have had for seven years.

          7                 Regarding mathematics, beginning this

          8  fall, all of our new freshman will be enrolled in

          9  mathematics courses from the very beginning of their

         10  college experience.  Now this may not sound like a

         11  very significant issue to you, but the reality is

         12  that math is one of those subjects that students shy

         13  away from in college, and they try to put off as

         14  much as possible, which creates problems for them

         15  and limits their access to certain disciplines and

         16  careers and majors.

         17                 Lehman freshman will not be allowed

         18  to do this any longer, and we anticipate that this

         19  will expand their curricular options, as they will

         20  also be encouraged to consider pursuing science

         21  majors and becoming science teacher at all levels,

         22  but especially in our high schools, where the need

         23  is most critical.

         24                 Two years ago, Lehman received a

         25  five-year grant from NSF that provides laptops and
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          2  stipends for 20 students a year. In addition, some

          3  of our high-achieving students in mathematics and

          4  computer science, I'm talking undergraduates at this

          5  point, are placed in paid internships with major

          6  corporations such as IBM, where we currently have

          7  several juniors and seniors earning about $22.00 an

          8  hour, while receiving credit and acquiring valuable

          9  professional experience.

         10                 Lehman is also the home of the CUNY

         11  Plant Sciences Doctoral Program, which we operate in

         12  collaboration with the New York Botanical Garden. We

         13  are now in the final phases of consultation of the

         14  programming and architectural massing for a new

         15  55,000 square foot science building, phase one.

         16  This will be the first facility on our campus built

         17  specifically for the sciences. It will feature

         18  state-of-the-art teaching and research laboratories.

         19                 Since the mid-1980s, Lehman College's

         20  Center for School College Collaborative has worked

         21  to improve public schools in the Bronx.  For a

         22  quarter of a century, mainly through private and

         23  public grants, the Institute for Literacy Studies at

         24  Lehman has been involved in the training and

         25  professional development of hundreds of New York
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          2  City English, Language Arts and Mathematics

          3  teachers.

          4                 From 1999 to 2004, our Bronx

          5  Institute had one of the GEAR UP Grants in New York

          6  City, and last fall, a new GEAR UP grant was awarded

          7  for $17 million, one of the largest in this nation.

          8  This grant, which has an emphasis on math and

          9  science, has made possible Lehman's involvement with

         10  approximately 3,400 seventh graders in a network of

         11  18 schools in the Bronx.  These students, along with

         12  their parents, will be assisted as they make their

         13  way from middle school through high school with an

         14  expectation that most of them will enroll in college

         15  after graduating from high school.

         16                 Finally, Chairman Barron, knowing

         17  your deep and long-standing interest in nursing, I

         18  heard your comments at last weekend's luncheon, at

         19  the Black and Puerto Rican, Hispanic Conference, I

         20  would be remiss if I didn't mention that Lehman has

         21  a thriving nursing program that currently admits 100

         22  third-year students a year, out of the approximately

         23  500 students on campus, who have declared an

         24  interest in becoming nurses.

         25                 Let me just add parenthetically here,
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          2  that nursing is a very expensive program in the

          3  third and fourth year, because of the ratios that

          4  are required for the clinical part of this.  You can

          5  only have I think eight students per section in the

          6  clinical part. So we have to have a faculty member,

          7  one class for eight students.  So if we have, you

          8  know, if we have made 100, think of -- over two

          9  years we have about 200 in the pipeline, that is a

         10  significant number of teachers we need, and not

         11  enough doctorally prepared nurses typically are

         12  available to work for us.  So, I think the doctor of

         13  nursing program is something that is really going to

         14  be of help to all of us.

         15                 We also have programs that help

         16  foreign-trained nurses pass the NCLEX exam and many

         17  of them go on to become LPNs or RNs.  And this year,

         18  in response to a need for RNs to get obtain

         19  baccalaureate degrees, we are developing with Dr.

         20  Botman's support, a distance education dimension to

         21  our RN to BSN program, which is now going to be

         22  offering courses online.  This program is aimed at

         23  RNs for whom attendance on campus or during

         24  traditional hours may be difficult because of work

         25  schedules.
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          2                 Also, during the past three years,

          3  Lehman has collaborated with Hostos to offer a

          4  Certificate in Nursing Assistant Program on CUNY on

          5  the Concourse. This is an outreach facility operated

          6  by the University under Lehman's administrative

          7  supervision in collaboration with Local 1199 of the

          8  Health Care Workers Union.  And thus far, 175

          9  students have completed the program have qualified

         10  for certification.  This is a publicly-supported

         11  institution serving the community with multiple

         12  needs. Lehman College is committed, as I am, to the

         13  improvement of social educational economic

         14  conditions for our borough and the surrounding

         15  region from which our students come.

         16                 Our work over the past two decades,

         17  which I have tried to highlight in my testimony,

         18  should give you a sense of the college's efforts to

         19  address the needs of our schools with a focus of

         20  science, mathematics, as well as the shortage of

         21  baccalaureate-trained nurses in New York City.

         22                 Thank you.  I will be pleased to

         23  respond to any questions.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON BARRON:  Thank you very

         25  much for your testimony. I think I got to start with
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          2  you, Doctor. I wanted to know, because one of the

          3  thinks I've always been concerned about is how we

          4  are approaching math, in particular.  I went to New

          5  York City Technical College. I took about every math

          6  course they had from Algebra to trigonometry,

          7  analytic geometry and calculus.  And I remember when

          8  I took Calculus One, I was trying to pass the class,

          9  and so I just memorized all the formulas and all of

         10  that stuff, which was quite boring, but I got an A.

         11  Then when I took Analytic Geometry and Calculus Two,

         12  I was trying to understand the principles of it in

         13  its application to life.  I enjoyed that more and

         14  got a lower mark.  I got a B.  But I enjoyed that

         15  more, understanding how it connected to realty.  So,

         16  I often wondered what turns students off from math.

         17  Is it it's disconnectedness with reality? Is it just

         18  too much work? Because sometimes math to me was

         19  easier than having to do a bunch of term papers. It

         20  seems that it is an exact science and it seems to be

         21  something, you don't have to have a whole lot of

         22  debate about.  What turns students off from math?

         23                 DR. FERNANDEZ:  Well, let me say

         24  first that part of the issue here depends on the way

         25  math is approached during high school, and often
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          2  times that is not a very exciting subject the way it

          3  is being taught.  Now, once they come into the

          4  University, I would say I have seen only a little

          5  bit of this, but I know that there is now with

          6  technology some very exciting programs, that for

          7  example, in the teaching of Calculus will give you

          8  visual demonstrations of what some of these formulas

          9  mean. So you can actually see happening what some

         10  calculation that in previously was maybe just an

         11  abstract formula that you were memorizing.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON BARRON: Right. Right.

         13                 DR. FERNANDEZ: Now you can actually

         14  see it on screen, and we are using some of that in

         15  our labs to improve the teaching of math.  So the

         16  teaching of mathematics I think is just as important

         17  as to make the subject interesting to students, and

         18  how do you develop that interest is something that

         19  we are still working on because a lot of professors,

         20  I shouldn't say a lot, some professors feel that you

         21  have to memorize a certain amount of stuff first --

         22                 CHAIRPERSON BARRON:  Right.

         23                 DR. FERNANDEZ: -- And then you can

         24  get into the exciting thing.  A lot of students,

         25  unfortunately, don't get past the first part --
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON BARRON:  Exactly.

          3                 DR. FERNANDEZ:  -- And they say, you

          4  know, if it's going to more the same I am not

          5  interested.  Give me a subject area that doesn't

          6  require math and that's -- anything but math.  And I

          7  think we are trying to by exposing students earlier,

          8  perhaps to better taught math, assisted by

          9  technology as much as possible in labs and in

         10  mentoring and tutoring sessions, excite them and

         11  present the subject in a way that perhaps they have

         12  never seen before.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON BARRON:  Do you find a

         14  real difference between males and females, is it

         15  that the males are more attracted to math and not

         16  females, visa versa?

         17                 DR. FERNANDEZ:  No.  No, in fact, at

         18  our college, you know more than 70 percent of our

         19  students are women.  So, you know when we are

         20  talking about teaching any subject in a class,

         21  typically you are going to find more women than men.

         22  We haven't seen any -- I can't tell you if there is

         23  any significant difference, at least we haven't

         24  observed it.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON BARRON:  And about
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          2  nursing?  What is it about nursing that students are

          3  not getting into the field.  Is it the long hours,

          4  is it low pay, is it the criteria to get in? What

          5  are some of the factors?  And both of you, if you

          6  can respond to that, I would appreciate it.

          7                 MS. KEIZS:  Let me say that in terms

          8  of students preparedness, all right, some of the

          9  same issues that face students on the mathematical

         10  side and on the science side, will also sometimes

         11  phase the student trying to get into any of the

         12  allied health professions, because there are those

         13  Gateway or Gate Keeper courses.  They can either be

         14  the entry way or they can be the block.  And very

         15  often students don't come with some of the

         16  preparatory knowledge base.  However, they can get

         17  it, if they enter, for instance, at the community

         18  college and dedicate themselves to it.

         19                 Now, I believe sometimes what we run

         20  into are the issues related to time on task.  The

         21  amount of time that a student can actually give to

         22  the academic life, for instance, versus sharing that

         23  time with a domestic life and with the work life.

         24  What we have found in some of these settings is if

         25  we can provide some small modest scholarships to
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          2  students, as little as $5,000 to $6,000 a year,

          3  which prevents them from going to work 20 hours a

          4  week, then they can dedicate their time to extra

          5  study, which is necessary.  It's not just extra, for

          6  every hour you spend in the class, you should spend

          7  three hours studying for that one class, and so if

          8  you are, however, competing with family time and

          9  with work time, you can't do that. So one of the

         10  things we found, and I know this experience at Bronx

         11  for instance, because we have had the opportunity to

         12  some have Rudin Scholarships (phonetic), and then in

         13  math and science we have been able to have the NSF

         14  Scholarships.  We find that when we identify just

         15  about $5,000 or so per year, students will be able

         16  to back away from work, or even reduce it, and spend

         17  more time, not only in the classroom, but in the

         18  labs, working together in tutorials, and by the way,

         19  some of the best learning takes place when they are

         20  huddled together, four or five of them, in a seminar

         21  room and they can sort of compete with each other

         22  and help each other. Sometimes with a master tutor.

         23  You were asking President Fernandez about how to

         24  teach math, sometimes with a master tutor, so they

         25  can really get command of that language, the
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          2  language of math or the language of science.

          3                 So some of those elements of

          4  instruction and support are what we need to bring to

          5  the table in order to free the students up to

          6  dedicate their time to that.

          7                 DR. BOTMAN:  I would like to make a

          8  link between teaching math and science, and in K-12

          9  sector, and then students studying math and science,

         10  and nursing, and allied health professions.

         11                 On a national level, as well as on a

         12  state level, we are much more concerned than ever,

         13  to insure that teachers are prepared to teach the

         14  subjects that they are hired to do.  So that we want

         15  to know, we keep asking ourselves, how much math,

         16  how much science, should an elementary teacher

         17  really know to be able to transfer the knowledge and

         18  the thrill of discovery that comes with math or

         19  science, and we are still trying to figure this out.

         20                 One of the reasons we are creating a

         21  Teacher Academy at CUNY is because we fundamentally

         22  believe that students must have deep knowledge in

         23  math and science. So when they are teaching the next

         24  generation of students, they are well prepared, not

         25  only with empirical knowledge, but they have been
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          2  trained to think about how to convey that knowledge

          3  to young people.  Mathematics is about scaffolding.

          4  So what you learn first you build on, and you build

          5  on and you go up the ladder, and if the foundation

          6  is rocky, students will have difficulty all the way

          7  through.  So, we do find that too many of our

          8  students were introduced to math and science in K-12

          9  classrooms in a way that made them frightened of the

         10  subjects. We believe that if we better train our

         11  K-12 teachers, then our students will be graduating

         12  from high school in New York City, not only with a

         13  deeper understanding of the fields, but a desire to

         14  pursue them. So when they get to college, they are

         15  more confident and more able to do the science

         16  related to nursing and allied health, or you know,

         17  the general curriculum in math or chemistry or

         18  biology or physics.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON BARRON:  What kind of

         20  collaboration, because I think the real problem

         21  starts K to 12.  I know someone was talking of a

         22  Science Now Project, something like the College Now

         23   --

         24                 DR. BOTMAN:  Exactly.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON BARRON:  -- The
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          2  collaboration, but something happens to the student

          3  who enters K to 12. They are very curious.  They are

          4  very excited about learning. They want to do

          5  homework.  They go from give me some homework, I

          6  want to learn, and you know students have more ways

          7  of learning than we have teaching, if we could

          8  figure out more ways of teaching, maybe we will

          9  match the way they learn.  And then for students of

         10  African Ancestry, we are always puzzled on how do we

         11  go from being the fathers and mothers of mathematics

         12  and science and building pyramids and mighty sphinx

         13  and Africa we get here, and all of a sudden we are

         14  having challenges in math and science.

         15                 So I just wanted to know on the K to

         16  12 level, which I think is the real challenge, I saw

         17  somewhere in here that seven percent have passed the

         18  Regents and there was a study done when Mark Green

         19  was the Public Advocate and he said that he found

         20  out that the New York City public school system is

         21  not prepared to prepare students to pass the

         22  Regents, yet they're still requiring Regents.  So, I

         23  mean, if you are not prepared to teach students to

         24  pass the Regents, and they are required to pass

         25  them, then what is happening?  What can CUNY do to
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          2  engage in some kind of collaboration with K to 12

          3  educators?  And finally, in that collaboration, what

          4  do you think about the idea of an open classroom,

          5  open corridor, open a non-grading system, where

          6  students, instead of being taught traditionally, if

          7  everybody's learning the same math lesson at the

          8  same time in the same grade, even though they are on

          9  uneven levels of development and comprehension of

         10  math, but you are teaching them the same lesson at

         11  the same time, those who are slower, will get

         12  frustrated because they need some attention, and

         13  those who are advanced will get frustrated because

         14  it's too easy.

         15                 What about having like math centers

         16  and science centers in parts of the room, and then

         17  they have workbooks so that they can go as far as

         18  they are capable of going, and no matter what grade

         19  they are in, so that we can have more math and

         20  science students that will be more excited about

         21  this and come out of the K to 12 experience ready

         22  for college?   I will let my colleagues ask

         23  questions after that, just like math and science.

         24                 DR. BOTMAN:  In connection with

         25  Science Now, you are absolutely right, it is
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          2  modelled on the College Now Program. The idea really

          3  is to offer help and remediation to those students

          4  who need it, but also college level courses to those

          5  students who have demonstrated ability.  So we are

          6  hoping to do some pilots this summer in schools for

          7  Science Now Programs and then learn from the

          8  summer's work and build on them in the future.

          9                 Our Teacher Academy that I made

         10  mention of a moment ago is being designed in

         11  collaboration with the New York City Department of

         12  Education, and it is being built on the premise that

         13  our students should have very deep math and science

         14  knowledge, but also should have by the time they

         15  graduate close to 1,000 hours in K-12 classrooms so

         16  that every summer we are offering those students

         17  paid internships in New York City public schools,

         18  and sometimes during the semester as well there will

         19  be comparable internships.

         20                 Those internships will be monitored

         21  by mentor teachers, and so not only will our

         22  students have the availability of first rate

         23  professors in college, but they will have first rate

         24  teachers in New York City schools mentoring them,

         25  monitoring their work, helping them.  Some of the
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          2  curriculum that we are designing for this program

          3  will be actually designed by a New York City teacher

          4  and a CUNY professor. So we are really trying to

          5  break down those barriers that you would suggest.

          6                 In connection with what you say about

          7  centers of math and science, you know, I don't know

          8  how scheduling works in the New York City K-12

          9  systems, so I am not capable of responding.  I,

         10  however, like the idea of having mathematics for all

         11  students in that building at the same time. So

         12  students can move between third and fourth grade, or

         13  between seventh and eighth grade, depending upon

         14  what their level of math is.  And that is a way to

         15  give attention to students who need it and it's a

         16  way to offer advanced work to students who are

         17  capable of doing that.

         18                 I will only close, and let my

         19  colleagues comment, as well, by saying, that there

         20  is a new study out that tries to understand success

         21  in college, and the results of that study are very

         22  interesting.  The researcher from the US Department

         23  of Education has concluded, that the most important

         24  predictor of success in college is not grade point

         25  average, it's not SAT score, it's not advanced
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          2  placement courses, it's the rigor of the curriculum

          3  in high school, and in particular, the number of

          4  units the students take in math and science. The

          5  more math a student takes, the higher the

          6  probability that that student will graduate from

          7  college.  Very interesting study.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON BARRON:  I will go to

          9  your question -- let me open it up to my colleagues

         10  and you can to respond to this and respond to their

         11  questions.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER AVELLA:  First of all,

         13  I want to thank you for your testimony.  It's

         14  gratifying to see that the problem is being

         15  recognized and obviously you are making attempts to

         16  address it.  I have a simple bottom line question,

         17  what can we do to help?

         18                 DR. BOTMAN: You know, we have an

         19  enormously talented group of students, and I was

         20  saying to President Keizs just before we came on,

         21  that it is gratifying to work in an institution that

         22  changes lives.  But our students need financial

         23  assistance. They are from very modest families.

         24  President Keizs mentioned some students working 20

         25  hours a week.  I would venture to say that she has
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          2  as many students, as does President Fernandez,

          3  working beyond 20 hours a week. If we were able to

          4  convert their work time into studying time, we would

          5  help them graduate in a timely fashion and really

          6  simplify their lives.

          7                 If you were able to provide

          8  scholarship assistance to our students, like you did

          9  for the Vallone Scholars, it is enormously important

         10  for our students.  I would say that is perhaps the

         11  first and most important form of assistance that we

         12  could use.

         13                 You know, the availability of slots

         14  in laboratories for students is also important. So

         15  incentivizing faculty, to accept high school

         16  students, and college students, but really high

         17  school students, into their labs so that they can

         18  actually, you know, do the work themselves with

         19  their own hands is very important.  So, finding ways

         20  to incentivize students and faculty in laboratories.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER AVELLA:  If you can

         22  put down those two ideas on paper --

         23                 DR. BOTMAN:  Of course.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER AVELLA:  -- And then

         25  get it to me --
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          2                 DR. BOTMAN:  Of course.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER AVELLA:  -- And then I

          4  will talk to the Chair here, but I think that is

          5  something we can certainly pursue to during budget

          6  negotiations, because it is a serious problem --

          7                 DR. BOTMAN:  Thank you.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER AVELLA:  -- I think we

          9  need to do more.

         10                 DR. FERNANDEZ:  I would like to add

         11  something, a couple of comments to Vice Chancellor

         12  Botman's earlier comment about what is the most

         13  important predictive factor, in terms of success in

         14  college, and that is a very rigorous high school

         15  curriculum.

         16                 There is a very recent study, which

         17  is an update of an earlier study done by a

         18  researcher in the Department of Education by the

         19  name of Cliff Edelman, who has come to the

         20  conclusion, yes certainly four units of math and

         21  three units of science for everybody in high school

         22  should be a standard.  A lot of our students in

         23  nursing have to take biology and chemistry, and if

         24  they don't achieve at a certain level in chemistry

         25  and biology, we don't let them into nursing because
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          2  we know that they are not going to succeed.

          3                 Part of the problem there is that

          4  they don't have the background in high school where

          5  they should be getting initially the background. But

          6  even more important, says Dr. Edelman now, is not

          7  just the number of units that you have but you got

          8  to make sure that the content of those units fits

          9  the content of what those students are going to

         10  experience when they come to college in the first

         11  and second year. Because a lot of times you have

         12  chemistry in high school but it doesn't resemble

         13  anything the chemistry that you are going to be

         14  taking when you get to college. So we have to have a

         15  dialogue between the faculty and the expectations in

         16  college.  They have to be very clearly spelled out

         17  in syllabi and in text, and so far we are just

         18  talking, apparently according to this study is, you

         19  know you can say I took chemistry in high school,

         20  but that doesn't necessarily mean that is going to

         21  prepare you to take chemistry in college. So we got

         22  to get -- dig deeper under the surface of just the

         23  numbers of courses, the numbers of credits or units,

         24  into the actual substance of what those courses

         25  entail.
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          2                 DR. BOTMAN:  It is really important.

          3                 DR. FERNANDEZ:  Yes.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON BARRON:  I want to thank

          5  you very much for your testimony, and certainly we

          6  will take up Council Member Avella's point to give

          7  us whatever it is you need.  We will be, and I will

          8  be talking to the Speaker about this, I want to

          9  formulate a commission on studying the fiscal

         10  feasibility of free tuition at CUNY, especially as

         11  it relates to math, science and nursing and the

         12  related fields. So we are going to be putting

         13  something like that together, and then I want to

         14  look at some innovative approaches toward teaching

         15  math and science, and getting students interested in

         16  math and science, and how can we make it more

         17  relevant to their reality and fun, and

         18  intellectually stimulating. Those are the things

         19  that a lot of young people come into school with,

         20  but somewhere along the line, it gets lost. So we

         21  are definitely going to move on that, and we thank

         22  you so much for your testimony.

         23                 DR. BOTMAN:  Thank you.

         24                 DR. KEIZS:  Thank you.

         25                 DR. FERNANDEZ:  Thank you.

                                                            52

          1  COMMITTEE ON HIGHER EDUCATION

          2                 MR. ETTRICKS: Would Kaytue Ting and

          3  Joyce Brown please come forward?

          4                 Ms. Brown, would you please raise

          5  your right hand? Do you swear or affirm that the

          6  testimony you are about to offer is truthful?

          7                 MS. BROWN: Yes.

          8                 MR. ETTRICKS: Thank you. Please begin

          9  by stating your name and affiliation for the record.

         10                 MS. BROWN: Thank you so much.

         11                 Now I'm on standby. My name is Joyce

         12  Brown. I'm so glad you have decided to have this

         13  meeting. I came to you last year and complained

         14  about the current status of nursing. And I'm so glad

         15  you followed it up. As I said before, and on my

         16  sheet, that I'm a registered nurse since 1960, which

         17  is over 45 years. But I am very serious about

         18  nursing. Since I was seven years old, they would ask

         19  you what did you want to be? I said a nurse. And

         20  that was because in the hospital I happened to be

         21  sick and there was a nurse there who nourished me,

         22  provided the things that I considered were nursing.

         23  Ever since that day I wanted to be a nurse and I

         24  loved nursing. But nursing has changed. Now the

         25  schools nursing are a business. They are educating
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          2  rather than training students to pass the exam so

          3  they can practice nursing. They are not training

          4  students to give patient care. I worked in a college

          5  last spring, and I was livid. I assisted on

          6  fundamentals because that's where you learn the

          7  basics. That is where you learn to transfer, if you

          8  have a decent instructor, to transfer your science,

          9  your math, everything, into the clinical area. Now,

         10  there is a separation in the current form of

         11  curriculum whereby they take biology, et cetera, at

         12  one time, and there is no relationship into nursing.

         13                 The students need someone, I believe

         14  it is best done at the beginning, where they form

         15  their ideas to help them translate this information

         16  into the clinical area, which is taking care of

         17  patients.

         18                 I am no longer working at that

         19  institution because they felt that they gave me

         20  flack about considering that taking blood pressure,

         21  being proficient in taking blood pressure, pulse,

         22  vital signs, to be more important than bed-making.

         23  This is the curriculum of CUNY, the City University

         24  of New York City.

         25                 Also, I mentioned I felt that the
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          2  students were being cheated from their nursing

          3  experience and their nursing education. Now, in

          4  sixties, when I graduated, there were basically two

          5  places where women went, either teaching or nursing.

          6  Today women, men, et cetera, can go anywhere they

          7  want. So, of course, nursing field is in

          8  competition, and the leaders in the nursing field,

          9  I'm sorry to say, are the ole girls network where

         10  they have just gone, got their bachelor's,

         11  continued, got their master's then PhD, little if

         12  any clinical experience. And the schools have

         13  prompted this, because as I said before, schools are

         14  businesses, they get paid by the amount of students

         15  that come in. And so, I went to Columbia Teachers

         16  College which was formed by Betting (phonetic), who

         17  was the leader at the beginning of the 20th century

         18  in nursing. She was the one who originated the first

         19  college of nursing program at Teachers College,

         20  where I went.

         21                 And as an aside, there has, since

         22  Betting was in, maybe at the end, since nursing

         23  began, in the United States always there's been a

         24  shortage of nursing, so that's nothing new. I read

         25  her book, along with Doc (phonetic), they were
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          2  leaders in the field, four volumes. Very

          3  interesting. I want to do something for Nursing

          4  History Week. And, so, could you remind me where I

          5  was at? I said that education was a business,

          6  nursing education is a business, my educators

          7  happened to have been graduated from Teachers

          8  College and gone and been leaders in the nursing

          9  field.

         10                 Some -- well, been leaders in the

         11  nursing field, various colleges, but today the

         12  leaders, they are only graduates. They haven't paid

         13  their dues as I have. I have worked in clinical

         14  nursing in all areas of nursing, school nursing,

         15  community health, hospital nursing.

         16                 So, I think I have gone into every

         17  field, every area of nursing just about, and I'm

         18  losing my train of thought. I'm terribly sorry.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON BARRON: You're doing

         20  good.

         21                 MS. BROWN: But I have mentioned that

         22  fundamentals is where the nursing student receives

         23  their guidelines.

         24                 Now, nursing now is more of a

         25  prestige rather than my feeling, after being
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          2  administered as a seven-year-old tour nurse who was

          3  caring. Now it's a paddle and money, rather than the

          4  essence of nurse, which is caring, nurturing.

          5                 There's nothing new with that. But as

          6  you saw in New Orleans --

          7                 CHAIRPERSON BARRON: Right.

          8                 MS. BROWN: Where the administrators

          9  left, and left their patients to die in nursing

         10  homes, that is going to become more prevalent. That

         11  has happened to me a number of times, during a

         12  blizzard, we stayed and we saw our supervisor leave

         13  in her car before the blizzard got to her. That

         14  isn't the only time that has -- so that is nursing

         15  at present.

         16                 When I was growing up, we had a

         17  future nurses club, which I was a member. We had, we

         18  were allowed to work as nurses aids during the

         19  summer to see how we liked it, whether we should

         20  participate or not, which I was. I have worked in

         21  school nursing. At Teachers College there used to be

         22  a program since I was a school nurse in Yonkers New

         23  York, okay, a school nurse program, whereby at

         24  Teachers College you had to take this course in

         25  order to be certified by the State as a school nurse
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          2  teacher. That school nurse teaching is still

          3  evident. You can use the website to find more about

          4  it.

          5                 The Chancellor of Public Health

          6  wasn't aware of it, but I am.

          7                 Okay, so lately our school nursing

          8  was very good. They loved me. They wanted to work me

          9  to death, so I stopped. But recently I worked as a

         10  school nurse in the City of New York for a temp

         11  agency, and then I worked there for a week or so,

         12  and then these kids came in saying"the nice nurse is

         13  here, the nice nurse is here." So, I said, "who?"

         14  And it happened to be me.

         15                 Now, why would a child go into

         16  nursing if the school nurse is mean, uneducated, and

         17  isn't the nurturing type? That's no role model. I

         18  sit down in the junior high school and there was a

         19  student, so we went into diabetes, the kids are

         20  cute, they like to know knowledge. They will, those

         21  diabetic kids, most of them will come in. They know

         22  about their illness. But if you have someone

         23  negative as the school nurse who hasn't learned how

         24  to be a school nurse, she is supposed to go in

         25  there, teach the children, the students, the
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          2  parents, and the teachers.

          3                 One of the schools on 106th Street, I

          4  spoke to the principal and said I'd like to teach

          5  the teachers about some of the illness, they were

          6  afraid of -- what is that -- well, it's a fungal

          7  infection -- ringworm. Teachers are terrified of

          8  ringworm, other things. I told her I'd like to teach

          9  the teachers, the teachers said yes, I'd like to

         10  know about it, and I was transferred because of it.

         11                 Another one, and there was a high

         12  rate of accidents at that school, which is the

         13  number one killer of children. No program. There

         14  were umpteen accidents, no prevention. In another

         15  school, public health is supposed to be the

         16  education of health, and I was surprised by the lack

         17  of health education. Our maid typed up this

         18  information, and I put it in the teachers' box. I

         19  went back, you know, I follow up. I said, "Did you

         20  give it to the kids?" She said, "No. This is too

         21  important, I want to give it to the parents."

         22  Because in it was the care of the child during the

         23  winter, and that's what school nursing is and didn't

         24  have it.

         25                 Do you think I should close?
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON BARRON: I thank you so

          3  much for your testimony. I think it was very

          4  important for us to hear from you, because certainly

          5  when people start talking about the scientific

          6  aspects of it, we don't want to lose the fundamental

          7  thing of caring and nurturing. And I think you

          8  brought that to us.

          9                 If you want to communicate further to

         10  this Committee and put anything in writing and

         11  things that you think we should do and make sure

         12  that's a part of the discussion in the future around

         13  nursing, I'll give you my card and we welcome that.

         14                 MS. BROWN: Thank you so much. But let

         15  me correct something.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON BARRON: Mm-hmm.

         17                 MS. BROWN: Science is part of

         18  nursing. It has to be transferred into the clinical

         19  area when you care for a patient. You have to know

         20  why that drip is going down, so that you can adjust

         21  it. This also all goes into science.

         22                 I just did a program on infection,

         23  which I gave to Dr. Zucker --

         24                 CHAIRPERSON BARRON: No, we are --

         25                 MS. BROWN: And that is part of
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          2  science.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON BARRON: Absolutely. No,

          4  we said it is a part of nursing, but the caring and

          5  nurturing part that you're bringing to us as well

          6  should be equally a part of that.

          7                 MS. BROWN: Yes.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON BARRON: We thank you so

          9  much for your testimony.

         10                 MS. BROWN: My pleasure.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON BARRON: Thank you.

         12                 MS. BROWN: Thank you.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON BARRON: With that, I want

         14  to thank all of you for attending this hearing. We

         15  will continue to move forward on this question of

         16  nursing, math and science, and you'll probably hear

         17  more from us. This meeting is adjourned.

         18                 (Hearing concluded at 2:43 p.m.)
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